












Historic Zoning Application 1104 East 10th Street 
 
Narrative: The Depew-Cherico-Frazier House 
1104 East 10th Street, Austin, Texas 78702. 
Robertson/Stuart & Mair Historic District. 
 

CONTRIBUTING CHARATERISTICS 

We are requesting historic zoning for 1104 East 10th Street because we believe 

it is of significant historic value to the city of Austin. The home, built between 1886 and 

1887, exemplifies Texas regional architecture and is a rare example of a short-lived 

architectural style in the city of Austin. Its single wall construction, Cedar shiplap siding, 

and what was originally a common L-plan, is remarkable because the front porch spans 

the entire façade. The porch has upper running trim with spindles that are a combination 

of originals and replicas. The turn-post columns are exact replicas of the originals. The 

structure serves as an outstanding and unique example of the work of an early Austin 

builder, John T. Depew, who contributed to the residential development of the city in its 

earliest years. 

The property has long-standing significant associations with persons and groups 

that contributed significantly to the early history of the city and represents a significant 

portrayal of the cultural practices and the way of life of definable groups of people in 

Austin’s early decades. The builder and first occupants were of French European 

descent. Yet during its first three decades, the home was sold to Anglo, Italian and 

African Americans. The Italian American and African American families who resided in 

the home played significant roles in the religious, educational, commercial and physical 

development of East Austin. The home’s builder, John T. Depew, was one of Austin's 

earliest home builders. By the end of the 19th century the home was owned and 

occupied by members of the Cherico family, a leading Austin family of the late-19th and 

early-20th centuries. The Chericos owned and operated a number of businesses, 

mostly produce, dry good and grocery stores in East Austin, and a barber shop at the 

heart of downtown Austin near East 6th and Congress. Members of the family developed 

significant tracts of Austin real estate, primarily in East Austin.  

In the early 20th century, leaders in Austin's Black community, including Eliza 

“Lizzie” Hawkins, a charter member of Ebenezer Baptist Church, and Lucile Frazier, 

who became known as "The English Teacher" at Anderson High School, owned and 
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resided in the home. The well-preserved and restored structure is uniquely located 

within both Austin's African American Cultural District and the Robertson/Stuart and 

Mair Historic District. This district represents one of Austin's first "suburban" residential 

neighborhoods that began with rich cultural diversity, providing residences and places of 

religious worship to Austin's early enclaves of African American, Lebanese, Italian, 

German, Anglo and Mexican Americans. 

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

1104 East 10th Street is the west 53 feet of Lot 10, located in the George L. 

Robertson subdivision, platted in 1877. George Robertson’s sister, Lydia Robertson, 

appears to have owned the lot at what is now 1104 East 10th Street, as the City of 

Austin Lot Register indicates she sold it to Mary G. Pillow, together with lots 8 and 9, in 

1885. A marginal note indicates that Lot 9 included 17 feet of Lot 10 and that Lot 10, 

1104 East 10th Street today, was 53.8 feet by 140.5 feet; dimensions that conform to the 

present configuration of the property. Deed records tell us that, in 1886, Mary Pillow and 

her husband, Benjamin S. Pillow, the manager of Western Union Telegraph, sold the lot 

in September 1886 to John T. Depew. Depew is elsewhere described as a “contractor, 

carpenter and builder.” A bird’s-eye rendering of Austin from 1887 shows small homes 

on Lots 10 and 11 and two homes on Lot 12 at the corner of what are now East 10th and 

Waller Streets. 

 

THE STRUCTURE 

The current structure presents a sort of Janus-faced building with largely restored 

front and rear façades. In 1997, the current owners relocated the house at 1007 Waller 

Street, two lots to the west, and attached it to the back of the home at 1104 East 10th 

Street. The exterior rear of the home, once 1007 Waller, is also largely restored to 

reflect how the original home looked when built, also around 1887. 

The original home had an L-Plan with a central hallway, two large rooms, one on 

either side of the entry hall behind the façade. An unusual joint in the exterior siding and 

a very unclear image of the home in a map of 1887 suggest that there may have been a 

fireplace near the front of the house on the west side. It’s probable that, if not originally 
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then at least in the first years of the home’s existence, one room behind the front room 

on the west was added. This room has functioned primarily as a dining room and a 

stove, long gone, once was located at the back, northwest corner of the room. The short 

front entrance hallway exited to an L-shaped “sleeping porch” and the original exterior 

siding of the home now provides the interior left wall of a back hallway. Perhaps in the 

1930s, a bedroom was added behind the right (east) front room. This was enclosed with 

board and batten siding that now forms both the rear exterior siding and the interior wall 

on the right side of the back hallway. The pine flooring that once served as the decking 

of the rear porch is visible as flooring for the back hallway and half of the east back 

bedroom. A tiny bathroom was added at the back of hallway at some point that has 

since been enlarged. It is also uncertain when a small kitchen and water heater were 

added behind the dining room. This too was enlarged when the house from 1007 Waller 

was added to the rear of 1104 East 10th in 1997. 

The 1/1 windows on the front of the home were likely installed between 1930 and 

1960 whereas the double-hung 4/4 windows on the west and rear east side of the home 

are probably original. Those in the back room on the east side of home are also original 

to the time that room was added. All windows were restored in recent years. There are, 

however, new windows at the rear of the home in the kitchen and the three rooms that 

belong to the relocated 1007 Waller house. 

 

OWNERS AND RESIDENTS 

John Depew was born in 1859 in Orange Texas and moved to Austin in 1875. He 

built the original L-Plan house at 1104 East 10th Street, then known as 1004 Mulberry 

Street. The City Register has him living there in 1887. John, his young wife Willie Wells, 

born in 1872, and their newborn son, Thomas Richard, born in 1887, appear to have 

lived in the home from 1887 until they sold it to John Wallace in 1892. Wallace was a 

fellow charter member of the East Austin Fire Company and many of the new residents 

and property owners in the fledgling neighborhood had united to form the area’s first fire 

brigade, establishing their station between East 10th and East 11th Streets, at what is 

now 1005 Lydia Street. Depew moved to 1314 Willow Street where he lived until dying 
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at the home in 1916 at the age of 57. He was buried in Oakwood Cemetery by the 

Woodmen of the World and his gravestone can be seen there today. 

John Wallace, a driver for the Colorado Steam Fire Engine Company No. 2, does 

not seem to have lived on the property. In 1893, a year after buying the property from 

Depew, Wallace sold it to W. C. Reed a timekeeper and clerk at the Houston & Texas 

Central Railroad. Having his home on East 10th Street provided Reed a short walk down 

from Robertson’s Hill to the railroad depot between East 5th and 6th Streets. The current 

owners found a lock and chain with the initials H&TC in the backyard while a fence was 

being installed. Perhaps it had belonged to Reed. 

Catherine “Kate” Cherico (née Caterina Maria Badaracco), a well-established 

resident of the area who had lived nearby in various homes since as early as 1885, 

acquired the property from Reed and his wife in 1898. Kate Cherico’s husband, John 

Cherico, who had died in 1882 at the age of 49, had opened a grocery and dry good 

store at 1100 East 11th Street, then Chincapin Street. After the death of her husband, 

Kate married Giossepi “Joseph” Mlinarich, who died shortly afterward, around 1888, and 

Kate Cherico is listed in the City Directory as a widow in 1889. Kate and her sons 

remained in the area, living at various locations, and her sons helped her operate the 

store on East 11th Street for many years. Some of her sons started businesses of their 

their own. Around 1890, Felix Cherico, for example, moved to 1403 East 6th Street 

where he built a nice home and a produce store of his own. He also acquired a 

considerable amount of real estate in East Austin and today a number of real estate 

websites proclaim such things as, “View 2,204 homes for sale in Cherico,” and “Just 3 

miles east of Downtown Austin…lies a small enclave of East Austin called Cherico”, 

and, “Cherico is a neighborhood of luxury homes in Austin Texas.”  

Kate is listed in the City Register as residing elsewhere in the neighborhood but 

in 1898, it’s very likely her son, John Cherico, lived at 1104 with his growing family until 

he eventually acquired it from his mother and four of his brothers in 1904.  

More is known about John Cherico than the other early owners of the property. 

John Cherico was born in 1869 and came with his family to Austin from New Orleans 

around 1875.  Around 1890, he began his career as a barber at the Ox-Horn Shop at 

Eighth Street and Congress Avenue.  As is sometimes the case with barbers, John was 
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something of a raconteur. According to Cherico, in an article published in November 

1956, the owners of the Ox-Horn liked to play a game or two of poker and frequently left 

him, though very young and new to the trade, in charge of the shop.  While Cherico was 

still an apprentice, the former Texas Governor, O. M. Roberts, came in and asked 

Cherico if he would trim his whiskers. After several attempts to even up the sides, the 

Governor looked up saying, “You can stop there. You did a masterful job.” Despite the 

ten-cent tip and compliment, Cherico noted that the Governor never returned as his 

customer. In his early twenties, John Cherico had the opportunity to open his own shop, 

Cherico and Patelski, at 303 East 6th Street that he operated for 60 years. Cherico sold 

the shop just after his 80th birthday, but almost immediately began working at another 

barbershop until finally retiring in 1964 at the age of 94. John Cherico was reputed, at 

the time, to be the oldest, licensed working barber in Texas. In 1952, when John and his 

wife Ida (née Ida Frey) celebrated their 50th wedding anniversary, they were living at 

3112 Kirby Lane. 

The departure of the Cherico family from the neighborhood was part of a trend as 

segregation policies and practices increased in Austin. The neighborhood, known as 

Robertson’s Hill, began as a diverse European American settlement of Germans, 

Italians, English and Lebanese families, with prominent members that included the 

Robertsons and Stuarts, and also included Austin’s first known Freedom Settlement of 

African Americans. The Freedom Settlement, called Pleasant Hill, was located at the 

northwest section of Robertson Hill, west of present San Marcos Street and south of 

East 11th Street.  

As segregation became a municipal objective and as racial tensions grew in 

Austin, John and Ida, like many other White property owners in the neighborhood 

decided to sell. Cherico sold the home in 1910 to its first Black owner, Eliza “Lizzie” 

Hawkins, a cook.  Ebenezer Third Baptist Church had been chartered in 1875 in the 

previous home of Ms. Hawkins, located at 205 West 9th Street. Because of Ms. 

Hawkins’ association with the chartering of Ebenezer Baptist, the home at 1104 East 

10th Street is sometimes mistaken as the place where Ebenezer Church was chartered. 

Lizzie Hawkins passed away in 1920 while still residing at the home, and Lincoln G. 

Frazier acquired the property from Hawkins’ estate in 1922.  
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Previously the Frazier family had lived along the railroad tracks at 508 Navasota 

Street. This was an ideal location, in some ways, because the patriarch, Daniel Frazier, 

was a carpenter and later a teamster with the W. J. Sutor Company. The Sutor 

Company was a retail and wholesale business specializing in long leaf pine. What better 

place to locate a hauling business than at the main rail stop in the capital city? It 

appears Daniel had died or left his wife Treater, deeding the three lots they owned on 

Navasota Street to her in 1910. In 1910 Treater was already 60 years of age. Although 

only three of Daniel and Treater’s ten children appear in the City of Austin records 

examined here, the funeral pamphlet for Lucile Frazier and other documents from 

Ebenezer Baptist Church clearly state the couple had 10 children of which Lucile was 

the youngest. 

By 1922, when Lincoln Frazier bought 1104 E. 10th, the family probably desired a 

more pleasant place to live than the noisy and dirty railroad district. Several letters, 

books, a corset, and a 46-star American flag were found under the house by the current 

owner while installing phone lines. One of the letters, from Grant Frazier to his mother 

Treater, dated 1908, is addressed to her in Hutto, Texas. It’s possible that Treater and 

her youngest child, Lucile, were moving about before landing on East 10th Street, but it’s 

unknown.  

It seems likely that at times, after acquiring the home on E. 10th Street, two of 

Treater’s sons, Lincoln and Grant, and certainly her daughter Lucile Edna, lived with her 

on 10th Street. Lincoln deeded the property to Treater in 1926. Treater then deeded the 

property back to Lincoln in 1931, apparently to take out loans to repair, update, or 

expand the house. Lincoln then deeded it back to his mother in 1933 when a release of 

lien is also recorded. The transfer of the property back and forth from the son to the 

mother in relation to loans for home improvements raises questions whether it was not 

possible or at least very difficult at the time, for a Black woman to secure loans even on 

a property that she owned.  

Treater passed away in 1940 at the age of 90, when Ebenezer Baptist Church 

designated her “First Honored Mother.” A photograph from about that time shows Ms. 

Frazier seated in a rocking chair in front of what may be the former home of Nathan 

Washington Rhambo, at 1102 East 10th Street. By the middle of the 20th century, a 
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number of Austin’s most prominent Black citizens lived in the neighborhood. Nathan 

Rhambo, quite possibly the most prominent and wealthiest Black resident of Austin by 

the early 1930s, resided next door at 1102 E. 10th Street. He appears to have lived 

there from about 1915 until his gruesome and mysterious murder in June of 1932. 

Rhambo operated the Rhambo Funeral Home at 503 Neches Street in downtown 

Austin. One of Rhambo’s closest associates, Lewis D. Lyons moved to 1001 East 8th 

Street in 1943. Lyons, one of Austin’s most prominent citizens and land owners, 

operated a brick grocery store at 508 East 6th Street. He had a hall built above the store 

where leaders of the Black community met to discuss matters of social and political 

importance. Lewis Lyons became known as “the Black Mayor of East Austin”. Treater 

Frazier’s neighbors to the east, at 1106 E. 10th were Arthur B. DeWitty and his wife 

Vergie Carrington DeWitty. Both were leaders in Austin, Arthur to this day is considered 

the premier civil rights leader of the city and Vergie was one of Austin’s most famous 

musical composers of the time. Arthur DeWitty became the first African American to be 

appointed to a Travis County Grand jury and, in 1951 while leader of the Austin NAACP, 

he narrowly lost election to the Austin City Council. His near victory led the all-White 

Council to change the election process the following year in order to weaken Black 

voting power. 

At the time of Treater’s death in 1940, the neighborhood had largely transitioned 

into a community of Black and Latino residents and churches. Mexican Americans had 

begun moving into the neighborhood with the relocation of Our Lady of Guadalupe 

Church to E. 9th and Lydia Street in 1926. A Master Plan for the City of Austin, adopted 

in 1928, codified the goal to locate services, parks, schools and other public institutions 

and amenities in East Austin, the heart of which was Robertson Hill and the adjacent 

neighborhoods. 

After Treater’s death, it appears Lucile Edna Frazier, a highly respected teacher 

at Anderson High School, lived at the home alone. It is known, however, that Lucile 

Frazier leased out a back bedroom to tenants. Lucile Frazier, as eulogized in her 

funerary pamphlet, “…is remembered as “THE” English Teacher at Anderson High 

School where she taught for many, many years until she retired in 1969”.  Ms. Frazier 

passed away September 19, 1983, her “…mother, father, sisters and brothers preceded 
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her in death.” Ms. Frazier left the property to a niece, Delia Mae Davidson, who lived in 

Dallas at the time. Soon after, the niece sold the property to a real estate investor, 

Dagmar Grieder. Treater, Lincoln, Grant and Lucile are all buried at Evergreen 

Cemetery in adjacent lots. 

In 1986, Dagmar Grieder, a financial executive with various Austin banks, leased 

the property and eventually sold it, in 1994, to Mark Rogers and Tristana Rohner 

Rogers, who continue to live there.  
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MRS. TREATER FRAZIER 

1934 - First Honored Mother - 1940 
of 

Ebenezer Baptist Church 
















